

**BOULDER COUNTY, COLORADO
BOARD OF REVIEW MEETING AGENDA**

**THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 7, 2024, AT 3:00 P.M.
Caribou Conference Room - 2nd Floor Courthouse Annex
2045 13th Street, Boulder 80302**

PLEASE NOTE: This will be a hybrid hearing held both in person and virtually in Teams.
The meeting room capacity is 40, seating will be limited.

To join the meeting virtually, visit <https://bouldercounty.gov/property-and-land/land-use/building/board-of-review/> for the link.

To join the meeting by phone, dial 720-400-7859 and the conference ID is: 152 521 919#

For special assistance, contact our ADA Coordinator (303-441-1386 or ADA@bouldercounty.gov) at least 48 hours in advance.

If you have comments regarding any of these items, you may mail them to the Community Planning & Permitting Department (PO Box 471, Boulder, CO 80306) or email to buildingcodeupdate@bouldercounty.gov. Please include the docket number "BORC-24-0001" in the subject line.

1. **Call to order**
2. **Roll call of members present by the Secretary of the Board**
3. **Introductory Comments by the Secretary of the Board**
3. **Appoint Members of the Committee**
 - a. Chair
 - b. Vice Chair
4. **Approval of the Minutes Summary**

Minutes of the April 6, 2022 public hearing - Ignition Resistant Requirements for Construction in Wildfire Zone 2 (the Eastern Half of Boulder County).
5. **Updates and approval to ByLaws approved by BOCC on October 29, 2024**
6. **Public Meeting**

BORC-24-0001: Building Code Update & Amendments
Summary by Ron Flax of the proposed items to be considered by the Board for inclusion into the amendments to the 2021 International Code series.

Upcoming building code update meeting and hearings

- a. Public Engagement Meeting – In Person in the BOCC Hearing Room
 - November 19, 2024, at 4:30pm
- b. Board of Review Hearings – Hybrid in the CP&P Caribou Room
 - December 5, 2024, at 3pm
 - December 19, 2024, at 3pm
- c. Board of County Commissioners Hearing – Hybrid in the BOCC Hearing Room
 - January 16, 2025, at 9am

8. **Other committee items**

9. **Adjournment**

Boulder County Board of Review Public Hearing

Minutes

Wednesday, April 6, 2022

2:00 PM

Due to COVID-19 concerns, this hearing was held virtually.

On April 6, 2022, the Boulder County Board of Review met for a public hearing and to make a formal recommendation to the Board of County Commissioners on **BORC-22-0001: Ignition Resistant Requirements for Construction in Wildfire Zone 2 (the Eastern Half of Boulder County)**.

The meeting convened at 2:05 P.M.

Board Members Present: Douglas Greenspan, Joseph Prinster, John Malcolm, Stephen Titus, and Michael Daley. Michael Daley was excused at 3:00pm for an appointment.

Staff Present: Ron Flax (Deputy Director of Building/Chief Building Official), Kathy Gissel (Permit Operations Manager), Erica Rogers (Senior Assistant County Attorney), Liana James (Assistant County Attorney), Rick Hackett (Communications Specialist), Michelle Huebner (Plans Examiner Supervisor), Heather Dodge (Plans Examiner), Chad Hagen (Plans Examiner), Abby Silver (Wildfire Mitigation Specialist), Kyle McCatty (Wildfire Mitigation Specialist), Jim Webster (Project Manager-Wildfire Partners), Dale Case (Director), Kim Sanchez (Deputy Director of Planning).

Interested Others Present: Multiple members of the public.

1. **Call to Order**

Ron Flax called the meeting to order and conducted roll call of board members present.

2. **Election of Chair & Vice Chair for 2022 BOR**

Chair Nomination: Motion for Joseph Prinster to serve as Board Chair.

Second: John Malcom

Approved: Motion was approved unanimously.

Vice Chair Nomination: Motion for Douglas Greenspan to serve as Board Vice-Chair.

Second: Michael Daley

Approved: Motion was approved unanimously.

3. **Approval of Minutes**

Approval of Board of Review Minutes from Board's last meeting, which was September 1, 2016.

Motion: Douglas Greenspan moved to approve the minutes as written.

Second: John Malcolm

Abstained: Mike Daley & Joseph Prinster due to not having been at the September 1, 2016 Hearing.

Approved: Motion passed.

4. **Public Hearing**

BORC-22-0001: Ignition Resistant Requirements for Construction in Wildfire Zone 2 (the Eastern Half of Boulder County)

Presentation by Ron Flax of the proposed ignition resistant requirements for construction in Wildfire Zone 2. The proposed requirements can be found in the Staff Recommendation.

Presentation by Jim Webster about cost analysis done on ignition resistant construction materials.

5. **General discussion, input, and feedback from the public**

Alex Gore – 825 Crisman Drive

Stated that he agrees with Class A roofing materials, questioned the eaves, fascia and soffit requirement and advocated for simplifying the language in the Boulder County Building Code to make it more clear on what is allowed, i.e., item #7 from section 327.5.5 states "Any materials permitted by this code". Alex also made a point about the expense that would be incurred by requiring a one-hour rating for exterior siding.

Jade Pender – Front Range Outdoor Living – 3034 Linden Drive

Requested adding steel or aluminum framing as an approvable type of non-combustible material and asked if there might be a requirement for full Class A standards to include other exterior materials other than just roofing materials.

Amy Aschenbrenner – 12788 N 66th Street

Stated that she is pleased to see the forward movement of building codes and is concerned about the additional cost to build in Boulder County as it increases the cost to live in Boulder County. She asked about the implications of the pause on building permits through June 6, 2022 and asked the Board to take into consideration the rural area of the County.

Julie Leonard – 1534 Marshall Road

Stated that the required 3' barrier of gravel around buildings will increase the amount of heat inside the home, which will then create higher costs to cool the

home and asked if there was a way to balance that. Julie also asked if the proposed changes apply to renovations as well as to additions.

Lance Cayko – 825 Crisman Drive

Indicated that he agrees with the Class A fire rating for roofing and requests that the County doesn't require one- or two-hour fire rated exterior walls due to cost. He believes that the 3' defensible space around buildings is a good idea but suggests more xeriscape requirements to make landscape part of the defensible space. He also asked why the County isn't doing more prescribed burns and mowing more often.

6. **Board Questions and Discussion**

The Board asked about low-cost loan programs to help with the cost of materials, and Jim Webster indicated that the County does have a low-cost loan program for Wildfire Partners and that the County is working on expanding this program county-wide.

The Board talked about the complexity of requiring a one-hour rating to the exterior walls due to the cost of the extra materials. Staff indicated that it is not a requirement of the ignition resistant construction regulations.

The Board asked if there was a need for clarification on 2" thick materials for eaves and fascia. Ron Flax clarified that the exterior fascia materials are required to be non-combustible, but that the 2x sub-fascia material is not regulated by the ignition resistant construction requirements.

The Board asked about the comment made by Jade Pender during public comment regarding it being difficult to get metal framing approved and possibly adding that in to the code. Ron Flax indicated that it is a non-combustible material and works with our current code, so no change is needed for that.

The Board asked about the pause in building permits that is currently in place. Ron Flax indicated that there is pause is in place unless the property owner agrees to build to the non-combustible requirements listed in Article 19 of the Boulder County Land Use Code.

The Board addressed the question asked about whether this code applies to renovations as well as to additions, and Ron Flax confirmed that it does apply to renovations as well.

The Board asked if Xeriscaping falls under the building code, and Ron Flax indicated that the County does not have building code requirements regarding this, but that the defensible space requirements do have a landscaping impact.

The Board pointed out that it appreciates the County putting some focus on the cost of these proposed changes since it is a concern for residents.

The Board discussed Section 327.5.5(7) and felt that this provision was confusing and not needed. The Board wanted to only discuss this section as it pertains to the requirements in Wildfire Zone 2 and declined to discuss the identical section that regulates Wildfire Zone 1 (Section 327.4.5(7)) since that section of the code was not included as part of the agenda and Board Packet.

Staff brought up Sections 327.4.12 and 327.5.12 which regulate the ignition resistant construction requirements for detached accessory structures. The Board declined to engage in a discussion of this because it was not included in the Agenda and Board Packet.

7. **Board of Review Action:** With a unanimous vote, the Boulder County Board of Review approved a motion to recommend to the Board of County Commissioners that they approve the staff recommendations for modifying the ignition resistant construction requirements for Wildfire Zone 2. They also recommended the deletion of item #7 from section 327.5.5.

The meeting was adjourned at 3:56 P.M.

A portion of this meeting was recorded beginning during Ron Flax's presentation under #4 above. For the portion of the meeting that was recorded, the official record is available from staff on MP4 Video and MPEG-4 Audio. For the remaining portion, these minutes constitute the official record. Detailed information regarding the docket items are available for public use online at <https://www.bouldercounty.org/property-and-land/land-use/building/building-code-amendments-borc-22-0001/>

RESOLUTION 2024-077

A Resolution Repealing and Reenacting Resolution 98-164 Related to the Establishment, Powers, and Procedures of the Boulder County Board of Review, Pursuant to Sections 30-28-206 – 30-28-207, C.R.S., and Section 113 of the Boulder County Building Code, As Amended

Recitals

A. Pursuant to Resolutions 77-69, 83-9, and 98-164, the Board of County Commissioners (“BOCC”) established, and specified the jurisdiction of and procedural rules governing, the Boulder County Board of Review (“BOR”), as authorized under Sections 30-28-206 - 30-28-107, C.R.S.

B. The BOCC also has specified certain powers of and substantive limitations in the BOR in Section 113 of the Boulder County Building Code (“the Building Code”) as amended.

C. The BOR is necessary to promote and enhance the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens of unincorporated Boulder County.

D. The BOCC wishes to enact this Resolution to supplement the procedural rules of the BOR consistent with the BOR’s statutory authority and the jurisdiction which the Board has provided for the BOR in the Building Code.

E. The BOR will review and formally adopt the procedural rules set forth in this Resolution in a public meeting following the Resolution’s adoption.

F. As part of the adoption of this Resolution, the BOCC wishes to repeal Resolution 98-164 contemporaneously with the adoption of this Resolution.

Therefore, the Board resolves that the composition, jurisdiction, and procedural rules of the BOR shall be as follows:

I. MEMBERSHIP, APPOINTMENTS, AND TERMS

- a. The BOR shall consist of ~~5 (five)~~ 3 (three) regular members, who shall be appointed by and in the discretion of the BOCC. In appointing regular members, the BOCC should give preference to individuals serving as associate members on the BOR.
- b. All BOR members shall be experienceds in building construction. To the extent possible, the BOCC should ~~try to~~ appoint BOR members ~~such that~~ are at any one time ~~one member is a~~ Colorado-licensed architects, ~~one member is a~~ Colorado-licensed mechanical engineers, ~~and one member is a~~ Colorado-licensed civil

engineers, ~~a one member is an~~ engineering geologists, ~~and one member is or a~~ general contractors.

- c. All members shall be residents of Boulder County or have a construction field related business based out of Boulder County.
- d. Each member's term shall be three years and until a member's respective successor has been appointed.
- e. The terms of office of all BOR members shall be arranged by making appointments so that the term of at least one member expires each calendar year.
- f. The BOCC may appoint two associate members of the BOR, who shall also be experienced in building construction. In the event that any regular BOR member is temporarily unable to act owing to absence from the County, illness, interest in a case before the BOR, and any other cause, the Secretary to the BOR may arrange for an associate member to take the regular member's place during such temporary disability. Associate members shall not be elected to chair or co-chair the BOR, and shall not act as regular members except when called upon to substitute for a regular member under the terms of this paragraph. However, associate members may participate in an advisory capacity to the BOR when the Board is considering matters of a quasi-legislative (as opposed to quasi-judicial) nature.
- g. In the event that a member dies or resigns prior to the expiration of that member's term, the BOCC shall appoint a new member to fill that member's unexpired term. The BOCC shall fill vacancies for such unexpired terms in the same manner as in the case of original appointments.
- h. The BOCC may remove any member, whether regular or associate, for cause, following written charges and a public hearing of which the member has prior notice and at which the member has the opportunity to be heard. Cause may include, but shall not be limited to, a member's absence from three regular meetings in one calendar year.
- i. All members, whether regular or associate, shall serve without pay, except that members are entitled to receive reimbursement for actual expenses incurred as part of their BOR duties.

II. OFFICERS AND COMMITTEES

- a. The BOR shall elect a Chair and a Vice Chair from among its regular members, whose terms shall be for one (1) year. The Chair, or in the Chair's absence the Vice Chair, shall be responsible for conducting all meetings of the BOR. The BOR may create other offices as it deems necessary or appropriate to the conduct of its authorized functions.

- b. The Boulder County Chief Building Official shall act as Secretary to the BOR. As Secretary, the Building Official shall be responsible for providing the appropriate technical staff to assist the BOR, and for maintaining all records of BOR proceedings. The Building Official shall serve in this capacity by operation of this Resolution, and need not be appointed by separate action of the BOR for this purpose.

III. BOR JURISDICTION

- a. The BOR shall have the duties and jurisdiction to act as set forth in Section [11305](#) of the Building Code, including its referenced Sections [104.102.7](#) and [104.112.8](#), which is attached to and incorporated into this Resolution as Exhibit A.

IV. MEETINGS AND VOTES

- a. All meetings and hearings of the BOR, except duly convened executive sessions, shall be open to the public.
- b. Meetings of the BOR shall be held at the call of the Chair (or in the Chair's absence the Vice Chair) or the Secretary. Regular meetings of the BOR normally will be held at the offices of the County ~~Land Use~~ Community Planning and Permitting Department on ~~the third Tuesday of each month~~ as needed basis and beginning at 3:30 p.m. The Chair or the Secretary may ~~call special meetings, or alter the date and start time of the regular~~ meeting, as necessary or appropriate to the BOR's agenda.
- c. The Secretary shall provide at least 7-days' prior notice of any of the BOR's meetings, published in a newspaper of general circulation in the County and ~~mailed to any parties in interest~~ posted on the County website for parties in interest. The Secretary shall coordinate with the Clerk to the BOCC to make sure that public notice of BOR meetings is posted or provided in compliance with the Colorado Open Meetings Law.
- d. ~~Four~~ Two (24) members of the BOR shall constitute a quorum for official action. All official actions of the BOR shall be taken by vote, with a majority of those members present needed to approve a vote. In the absence of a quorum, a lesser number of BOR members may adjourn any meeting to a later date and time, provided that at the meeting to be adjourned an announcement of the date and time of the rescheduled meeting is posted or otherwise provided to any parties in interest, and the rescheduled meeting is otherwise noticed in accordance with this Section III.
- e. Upon the affirmative vote of ~~two-thirds~~ of the quorum present (which shall mean the vote of ~~three~~ two members if either 24 or ~~35~~ members are present), the BOR may hold an executive session at a regular or special meeting, for the sole purpose of considering any of the matters set forth in 24-6-402(4) of the Open Meetings

Law, as amended. The Chair shall announce the general topic of the executive session prior to convening the session. No adoption of any proposed policy, position, resolution, rule, regulation, or formal action shall occur at any executive session which is not open to the public.

- f. The BOR, through its Secretary, shall keep a record of its proceedings, examinations, and other official actions, which record shall be open to inspection by the public during regular County office hours. The BOR shall keep minutes of its proceedings showing the vote of each member upon each questions (or, if absent or failing to vote, indicating such fact), which minutes may be kept in the form of the official ~~tape~~-recording of the BOR's meeting.
- g. The Secretary shall place all requests for approval or other official action by the BOR and all matters scheduled for public discussion by or the information of the BOR, on an ~~written~~-agenda, which the Secretary shall make available to members of the BOR, members of the public, and any known parties in interest, in advance of the respective meeting. The Chair (or in the Chair's absence the Vice Chair) shall have the discretion to alter the order of the BOR's consideration or hearing of any of the items listed on an agenda for any particular meeting, unless otherwise directed by a majority of the BOR members present. In addition, the BOR, by majority vote, shall have the right to amend the agenda to add, delete, or table or continue any matter, provided that no such action shall be contrary to the procedural requirements of the Colorado Open Meetings Law and shall be consistent with any due process rights of any party in interest to the matter.

V. HEARING PROCEDURES

- a. The hearing procedures set forth in this Section V. are guidelines which can be expected to generally govern quasi-judicial hearings before the BOR. Such hearings include hearings to consider appeals, requests for interpretations, and requests for approvals of alternate materials and methods of construction or modifications, all as set forth in Section ~~11305~~ of the Building Code (see Exhibit A). The Chair (or in the Chair's absence the Vice Chair) shall have the discretion to enforce or alter the following procedures, as necessary to ensure that BOR meetings and hearings are conducted in an efficient manner while observing principles of fundamental fairness with respect to all interested parties. However, in no event shall the Chair have the discretion to alter the fee specified in Subsection B., immediately below.
- b. An application fee of \$200.00, to offset publication and administrative costs, shall accompany each request for a hearing on any of the matters referenced in Section V.a., above. No part of this fee shall be refundable.
- c. The procedures governing BOR meetings, as set forth in Section IV., above, shall also apply to quasi-judicial hearings. In addition, the Secretary shall schedule a BOR hearing on a request, if timely filed, to be held no earlier than 15 days and

no later than 45 days after the filing of a complete request (or as soon as possible thereafter given the availability of a BOR quorum for the hearing). Section 11305.24 of the Building Code requires appeals to the BOR to be made in writing, to be directed to the Secretary of the BOR, to state the basis for the appeal, and to be made within 14 days after the date of grant or refusal of the building permit or decision being appealed from. (See Section 11305.24 of the Building Code in Exhibit A, attached).

- d. The Secretary shall make a written analysis of and recommendation to the BOR on each hearing request, which the Secretary shall make available to the Applicant and the BOR at least seven (7) days prior to the hearing.
- e. The Chair, or in the Chair's absence the Vice Chair, may administer oaths and compel the attendance of witnesses at hearings.
- f. The following hearing procedures are not binding and shall be considered guidelines for the conduct of a fair hearing. Ordinarily, at the hearing, the Chair will open the hearing and call for a presentation by the Secretary, based on the Secretary's written analysis and recommendation and any additional relevant material received prior to the hearing. The Applicant next will be provided with an opportunity to respond and to present the Applicant's case. Following the Applicant, any interested members of the public shall be given an opportunity to speak. Thereafter, the BOR shall allow the Secretary and the Applicant an opportunity to respond. The BOR may ask questions of these witnesses at any time during their presentations. The BOR shall retain any evidence presented by the Applicant or any other person at the hearing as part of its official record of the hearing. Once all parties in interest have had an opportunity to testify, the Chair shall close the public hearing. At this time the BOR shall discuss the evidence and make a motion for a decision, which motion, if seconded, the BOR can further discuss. Any motion should reference the applicable criteria for making the subject decision and the evidence which addresses those criteria.
- g. The Secretary shall provide a written, dated, and signed notice of the BOR's decision to the Applicant no later than 30 days after the hearing date. The BOR's decision shall be final on the date shown on the face of the written notice.

VI. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

- a. No member shall participate in or vote with respect to any quasi-judicial matter pending before the BOR, if that member has a financial, personal, or official interest in, or conflict with, the matter, of such nature that it prevents or may prevent that member from acting on the matter in an impartial manner. Any member having such an interest or conflict shall reveal such fact, to the extent possible, prior to any official BOR hearing of or action on the matter, and shall refrain from sitting and participating with the BOR in its consideration of and decision on such matter. Moreover, no such member shall testify before the BOR

as a member of the public on any such matter, in order to avoid any appearance of undue influence on the other BOR members.

- b. No member shall participate in, or vote or attempt to influence the other members with respect to, any quasi-legislative matter scheduled for a decision or official recommendation before the BOR, if such action directly and substantially affects, to the member’s economic benefit, a business or other undertaking in which the member either has a substantial financial interest or is engaged as counsel, consultant, representative, or agent, unless the member, prior to acting in any manner on the matter, makes a written disclosure to the Secretary of State in accordance with 24-17-110, C.R.S., and states the fact and summary nature of the member’s interest for the record at the time of the BOR meeting or hearing on the matter.

VII. REPEAL OF RESOLUTIONS ~~77-69~~ AND ~~83-598-164~~

Resolutions ~~77-67 and 83-598-164~~ are-is hereby repealed, effective with the adoption of this Resolution on the date specified below.

A motion to approve the repeal of Resolution 98-164 and to reenact the procedural rules of the BOR in this Resolution 24-077, to be adopted and effective as of the date of the Board of County Commissioners’ action set forth herein, was made at the - _____ business meeting by Commissioner _____, seconded by Commissioner _____, and passed by a _____ vote of the Board.

[Signature Page to Follow]

ADOPTED as a final decision of the Board on this _____ day of October 2024.

The signatures below indicate approval of the text of the Resolution but are not necessarily reflective of the votes taken at the Public Hearing.

**BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS
OF BOULDER COUNTY:**

Ashley Stolzmann, Chair

Marta Loachamin, Vice Chair

Claire Levy, Commissioner

ATTEST:

Clerk to the Board

Exhibit A

The following exhibit includes excerpts from 2015 Amendments to Boulder County Building Code – Effective January 1, 2016

to persons or property caused in whole or in part by defects or other conditions which may be subject to inspection or regulation under this code. Neither Boulder County, the Boulder County Board of County Commissioners, the Boulder County Land Use Department or any division thereof, the *building official*, or any other employee or authorized representative of Boulder County who is charged or connected with the enforcement of this code, shall be liable in damages for any act or omission in the course or context of the discharge of duties under this code or any provisions related to it, and nothing in this code or in its administration or enforcement shall be considered in any way to be a waiver by Boulder County or any of its officials or employees of the protection to which they are entitled under the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, C.R.S. §24-10-101, et seq., as amended. Any claim or suit brought against the *building official* or any other employee or authorized representative of Boulder County which is alleged to have arisen out of or as a result of any act or omission in the enforcement of any provision of this code, and which occurred within the scope of employment of such official, employee or representative, shall be defended by Boulder County until final termination of such proceedings, and any judgment resulting there from shall be assumed by Boulder County.

104.9 Approved materials and equipment.

Materials, equipment and devices *approved* by the *building official* shall be constructed and installed in accordance with such approval.

104.9.1 Used materials and equipment.

The use of used materials that meet the requirements of this code for new materials is permitted. Used equipment and devices shall not be reused unless *approved* by the *building official*.

104.10 Modifications.

Where there are practical difficulties involved in carrying out the provisions of this code, the *building official* shall have the authority to grant modifications for individual cases, upon application of the *owner* or the *owner's* authorized agent, provided that the *building official* shall first find that special individual reason makes the strict letter of this code impractical, the modification is in compliance with the intent and purpose of this code and that such modification does not lessen health, *accessibility*, life and fire safety or structural requirements. The details of action granting modifications shall be recorded and entered in the files of the department of building safety.

104.10.1 Flood hazard areas.

The *building official* shall not grant modifications to any provision required in flood hazard areas as established by IBC Section 1612.3 or IRC Section R322 unless a determination has been made that:

1. A showing of good and sufficient cause that the unique characteristics of the size, configuration or topography of the site render the elevation standards of this code inappropriate.
2. A determination that failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional hardship by rendering the lot undevelopable.
3. A determination that the granting of a variance will not result in increased flood heights, additional threats to public safety, extraordinary public expense, cause fraud on or victimization of the public, or conflict with existing laws or ordinances.
4. A determination that the variance is the minimum necessary to afford relief, considering the flood hazard.
5. Submission to the applicant of written notice specifying the difference between the design flood elevation and the elevation to which the building is to be built, stating that the cost of flood insurance will be commensurate with the increased risk resulting from the reduced floor elevation, and stating that construction below the design flood elevation increases risks to life and property.

See also Section 102.2.1 of this chapter.

104.10.2 Performance code.

The provisions of the ICC Performance Code for Buildings and Facilities may be used by the *building official* as a guide and a tool to evaluate proposals for modifications.

104.11 Alternative materials, design and methods of construction and equipment.

The provisions of this code are not intended to prevent the installation of any material or to prohibit any design or method of construction not specifically prescribed by this code, provided that any such alternative has been approved. An alternative material, design, or method of construction shall be approved where the *building official* finds that the proposed design is satisfactory and complies with the intent of the provisions of this code, and that the material, method or work offered is, for the purpose intended, not less than the equivalent of that prescribed in this code in quality, strength, effectiveness, fire resistance, durability, and safety. Where the alternative material, design, or method of construction is not approved, the *building official* shall respond in writing, stating the reasons why the alternative was not approved.

104.11.1 Research reports.

Supporting data, where necessary to assist in the approval of materials or assemblies not specifically provided for in this code, shall consist of valid research reports from approved sources.

104.11.2 Tests.

Whenever there is insufficient evidence of compliance with the provisions of this code, or evidence that a material or method does not conform to the requirements of this code, or in

order to substantiate claims for alternative materials or methods, the *building official* shall have the authority to require tests as evidence of compliance to be made at no expense to the jurisdiction.

104.11.3 Performance code.

The provisions of the ICC Performance Code for Buildings and Facilities may be used by the *building official* as a guide and a tool to evaluate proposals for alternative materials, design, and methods of construction and equipment.

SECTION 105: PERMITS

105.1 Required.

Any owner or owner's authorized agent who intends to construct, enlarge, alter, repair, move, demolish or change the occupancy of a building or structure, or to erect, install, enlarge, alter, repair, remove, convert or replace any electrical, gas, mechanical or plumbing system, the installation of which is regulated by this code, or to cause any such work to be performed, shall first make application to the *building official* and obtain the required permit.

105.1.1 Annual permit.

Instead of an individual permit for each alteration to an already approved electrical, gas, mechanical or plumbing installation, the *building official* is authorized to issue an annual permit upon application therefor to any person, firm or corporation regularly employing one or more qualified trade persons in the building, structure or on the premises owned or operated by the applicant for the permit.

105.1.2 Annual permit records.

The person to whom an annual *permit* is issued shall keep a detailed record of *alterations* made under such annual *permit*. The *building official* shall have access to such records at all times or such records shall be filed with the *building official* as designated.

105.2 Work exempt from permit.

Exemptions from *permit* requirements of this code shall not be deemed to grant authorization for any work to be done in any manner in violation of the provisions of this code or any other laws or ordinances of this jurisdiction. *Permits* shall not be required for the following:

Building:

1. One-story detached accessory structures used as a storage shed, playhouse for private use, greenhouse, chicken coop, agricultural loafing shed, or similar uses, provided:
 - a. the floor area of any structure does not exceed 120 square feet (11 m²), except agricultural loafing sheds, which may not exceed 200 square feet.
 - b. the structure height does not exceed 12 feet,
 - c. the structure does not have any utilities, and

- d. the structure does not violate the conditions of any existing land use approval or conservation easement.
- e. The number of allowed detached accessory structures which may be constructed without a building permit shall be determined by the size of the subject parcel:
 - i. One detached accessory structure may be constructed without a building permit on parcels 0.5 acres or less in size.
 - ii. Two detached accessory structures may be constructed without a building permit on parcels greater than 0.5 acre and less than ten acres.
 - iii. Three detached accessory structures may be constructed without a building permit on parcels 10 acres and larger.
- 2. Fences not over 6 feet (2134 mm) high.
- 3. Retaining walls that are not over 4 feet (1219 mm) in height measured from the bottom of the footing to the top of the wall, unless supporting a surcharge or impounding Class I, II or IIIA liquids.
- 4. Water tanks supported directly on grade if the capacity is not greater than 5,000 gallons (18 925 L) and the ratio of height to diameter or width is not greater than 2:1.
- 5. Sidewalks and driveways not more than 30 inches (762 mm) above adjacent grade, and not over any basement or *story* below and are not part of an *accessible route* and not subject to a grading permit.
- 6. Painting, papering, tiling, carpeting, cabinets, counter tops and similar finish work:

Exception:
Cabinets and countertops with plumbing or electrical as part of remodels in one- and two-family *dwelling*s and their accessory structures are required to have a building permit.
- 7. Temporary motion picture, television and theater stage sets and scenery.

SECTION 113: BOARD OF REVIEW

113.1 General.

In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions or determinations made by the *building official* relative to the application and interpretation of this code, there shall be and is hereby created a board of review. The board of review shall be appointed by the applicable governing authority and shall hold office at its pleasure. The board shall adopt rules of procedure for conducting its business.

113.2 Appeals.

Appeals to the Board of Review may be taken by a person aggrieved by his inability to obtain a building permit or by an officer or department, board, or bureau of the County affected by the grant or refusal of the building permit because of non-compliance with the Boulder County Building Code. Any person, officer or department, board or bureau may appeal to the Board of

Review from the decision of any enforcement of the provisions of the Building Code. Such appeals must be made within fourteen (14) days from the date of grant or refusal of the building permit or administrative decision. Such appeals shall be in writing directed to the Secretary of the Board of Review and shall state the basis for appeal.

113.3 Interpretations, alternate materials and methods of construction, and modifications.

The Board of Review, in appropriate cases and subject to appropriate principles, standards, rules, conditions, and safeguards set forth in the building code may make interpretations of the terms of the building code in harmony with their general purpose and intent. The Board of Review may also approve of alternate materials or methods of construction or modifications provided the Board finds that the alternate material or method of construction or modification meets the standards found under Sections 104.10 and 104.11 of this code.

113.4 Limitations on authority.

An application for appeal shall be based on a claim that the true intent of this code or the rules legally adopted thereunder have been incorrectly interpreted, the provisions of this code do not fully apply, or an equally good or better form of construction is proposed. The board shall have no authority relative to interpretation of the administrative provisions of this code and shall not have authority to waive requirements of this code.

113.5 Amendments to the code.

The Board of Review is authorized to formulate suggested amendments to the Building Code for consideration of the Board of County Commissioners.

113.6 Additional authority.

The Board of Review may adopt substantive rules and regulations based upon the provisions of the Building Code adopted by the Board of County Commissioners. In no case, however, shall these rules become effective unless the Board of Review thereon has conducted a public hearing. Notice of the hearing stating its time and place and where the text of the proposed substantive rules and regulations may be inspected shall be given in the same manner as provided in the initial adoption of the code.

113.7 Qualifications.

The board of review shall consist of members who are qualified by experience and training to pass on matters pertaining to building construction and are not employees of the jurisdiction.

SECTION 114: VIOLATIONS

114.1 Unlawful acts.

It shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to erect, construct, alter, extend, *repair*, move, remove, demolish or occupy any building, structure or equipment regulated by this code, or cause same to be done, in conflict with or in violation of any of the provisions of this code.

114.2 Notice of violation.

The *building official* is authorized to serve a notice of violation or order on the person responsible for the erection, construction, *alteration*, extension, *repair*, moving, removal, demolition or occupancy of a building or structure in violation of the provisions of this code, or in violation of a *permit* or certificate issued under the provisions of this code. Such order shall direct the discontinuance of the illegal action or condition and the abatement of the violation.

114.3 Prosecution of violation.

If the notice of violation is not complied with promptly, the *building official* is authorized to request the legal counsel of the jurisdiction to i

RESOLUTION 2024-077

A Resolution Repealing and Reenacting Resolution 98-164 Related to the Establishment, Powers, and Procedures of the Boulder County Board of Review, Pursuant to Sections 30-28-206 – 30-28-207, C.R.S., and Section 113 of the Boulder County Building Code, As Amended

Recitals

A. Pursuant to Resolutions 77-69, 83-9, and 98-164, the Board of County Commissioners (“BOCC”) established, and specified the jurisdiction of and procedural rules governing, the Boulder County Board of Review (“BOR”), as authorized under Sections 30-28-206 - 30-28-107, C.R.S.

B. The BOCC also has specified certain powers of and substantive limitations in the BOR in Section 113 of the Boulder County Building Code (“the Building Code”) as amended.

C. The BOR is necessary to promote and enhance the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens of unincorporated Boulder County.

D. The BOCC wishes to enact this Resolution to supplement the procedural rules of the BOR consistent with the BOR’s statutory authority and the jurisdiction which the Board has provided for the BOR in the Building Code.

E. The BOR will review and formally adopt the procedural rules set forth in this Resolution in a public meeting following the Resolution’s adoption.

F. As part of the adoption of this Resolution, the BOCC wishes to repeal Resolution 98-164 contemporaneously with the adoption of this Resolution.

Therefore, the Board resolves that the composition, jurisdiction, and procedural rules of the BOR shall be as follows:

I. MEMBERSHIP, APPOINTMENTS, AND TERMS

- a. The BOR shall consist of 3 (three) regular members, who shall be appointed by and in the discretion of the BOCC. In appointing regular members, the BOCC should give preference to individuals serving as associate members on the BOR.
- b. All BOR members shall be experienced in building construction. To the extent possible, the BOCC should appoint BOR members that are Colorado-licensed architects, Colorado-licensed mechanical engineers, Colorado-licensed civil engineers, engineering geologists, or general contractors.

- c. All members shall be residents of Boulder County or work in a construction field related business based out of Boulder County
- d. Each member's term shall be three years and until a member's respective successor has been appointed.
- e. The terms of office of all BOR members shall be arranged by making appointments so that the term of at least one member expires each calendar year.
- f. The BOCC may appoint two associate members of the BOR, who shall also be experienced in building construction. In the event that any regular BOR member is temporarily unable to act owing to absence from the County, illness, interest in a case before the BOR, and any other cause, the Secretary to the BOR may arrange for an associate member to take the regular member's place during such temporary disability. Associate members shall not be elected to chair or co-chair the BOR, and shall not act as regular members except when called upon to substitute for a regular member under the terms of this paragraph. However, associate members may participate in an advisory capacity to the BOR when the Board is considering matters of a quasi-legislative (as opposed to quasi-judicial) nature.
- g. In the event that a member dies or resigns prior to the expiration of that member's term, the BOCC shall appoint a new member to fill that member's unexpired term. The BOCC shall fill vacancies for such unexpired terms in the same manner as in the case of original appointments.
- h. The BOCC may remove any member, whether regular or associate, for cause, following written charges and a public hearing of which the member has prior notice and at which the member has the opportunity to be heard. Cause may include, but shall not be limited to, a member's absence from three regular meetings in one calendar year.
- i. All members, whether regular or associate, shall serve without pay, except that members are entitled to receive reimbursement for actual expenses incurred as part of their BOR duties.

II. OFFICERS AND COMMITTEES

- a. The BOR shall elect a Chair and a Vice Chair from among its regular members, whose terms shall be for one (1) year. The Chair, or in the Chair's absence the Vice Chair, shall be responsible for conducting all meetings of the BOR. The BOR may create other offices as it deems necessary or appropriate to the conduct of its authorized functions.
- b. The Boulder County Chief Building Official shall act as Secretary to the BOR. As Secretary, the Building Official shall be responsible for providing the appropriate

technical staff to assist the BOR, and for maintaining all records of BOR proceedings. The Building Official shall serve in this capacity by operation of this Resolution, and need not be appointed by separate action of the BOR for this purpose.

III. BOR JURISDICTION

- a.** The BOR shall have the duties and jurisdiction to act as set forth in Section 113 of the Building Code, including its referenced Sections 104.10 and 104.11, which is attached to and incorporated into this Resolution as Exhibit A.

IV. MEETINGS AND VOTES

- a.** All meetings and hearings of the BOR, except duly convened executive sessions, shall be open to the public.
- b.** Meetings of the BOR shall be held at the call of the Chair (or in the Chair's absence the Vice Chair) or the Secretary. Regular meetings of the BOR normally will be held at the offices of the County Community Planning and Permitting Department on an as needed basis and beginning at 3:30 p.m. The Chair or the Secretary may alter the start time of a meeting, as necessary or appropriate to the BOR's agenda.
- c.** The Secretary shall provide at least 7-days' prior notice of any of the BOR's meetings, published in a newspaper of general circulation in the County and posted on the County website for parties in interest. The Secretary shall coordinate with the Clerk to the BOCC to make sure that public notice of BOR meetings is posted or provided in compliance with the Colorado Open Meetings Law.
- d.** Two (2) members of the BOR shall constitute a quorum for official action. All official actions of the BOR shall be taken by vote, with a majority of those members present needed to approve a vote. In the absence of a quorum, a lesser number of BOR members may adjourn any meeting to a later date and time, provided that at the meeting to be adjourned an announcement of the date and time of the rescheduled meeting is posted or otherwise provided to any parties in interest, and the rescheduled meeting is otherwise noticed in accordance with this Section III.
- e.** Upon the affirmative vote of the quorum present (which shall mean the vote of two members if either 2 or 3 members are present), the BOR may hold an executive session at a regular or special meeting, for the sole purpose of considering any of the matters set forth in 24-6-402(4) of the Open Meetings Law, as amended. The Chair shall announce the general topic of the executive session prior to convening the session. No adoption of any proposed policy, position,

resolution, rule, regulation, or formal action shall occur at any executive session which is not open to the public.

- f.** The BOR, through its Secretary, shall keep a record of its proceedings, examinations, and other official actions, which record shall be open to inspection by the public during regular County office hours. The BOR shall keep minutes of its proceedings showing the vote of each member upon each questions (or, if absent or failing to vote, indicating such fact), which minutes may be kept in the form of the official recording of the BOR's meeting.
- g.** The Secretary shall place all requests for approval or other official action by the BOR and all matters scheduled for public discussion by or the information of the BOR, on an agenda, which the Secretary shall make available to members of the BOR, members of the public, and any known parties in interest, in advance of the respective meeting. The Chair (or in the Chair's absence the Vice Chair) shall have the discretion to alter the order of the BOR's consideration or hearing of any of the items listed on an agenda for any particular meeting, unless otherwise directed by a majority of the BOR members present. In addition, the BOR, by majority vote, shall have the right to amend the agenda to add, delete, or table or continue any matter, provided that no such action shall be contrary to the procedural requirements of the Colorado Open Meetings Law and shall be consistent with any due process rights of any party in interest to the matter.

V. HEARING PROCEDURES

- a.** The hearing procedures set forth in this Section V. are guidelines which can be expected to generally govern quasi-judicial hearings before the BOR. Such hearings include hearings to consider appeals, requests for interpretations, and requests for approvals of alternate materials and methods of construction or modifications, all as set forth in Section 113 of the Building Code (see Exhibit A). The Chair (or in the Chair's absence the Vice Chair) shall have the discretion to enforce or alter the following procedures, as necessary to ensure that BOR meetings and hearings are conducted in an efficient manner while observing principles of fundamental fairness with respect to all interested parties. However, in no event shall the Chair have the discretion to alter the fee specified in Subsection B., immediately below.
- b.** An application fee of \$200.00, to offset publication and administrative costs, shall accompany each request for a hearing on any of the matters referenced in Section V.a., above. No part of this fee shall be refundable.
- c.** The procedures governing BOR meetings, as set forth in Section IV., above, shall also apply to quasi-judicial hearings. In addition, the Secretary shall schedule a BOR hearing on a request, if timely filed, to be held no earlier than 15 days and no later than 45 days after the filing of a complete request (or as soon as possible thereafter given the availability of a BOR quorum for the hearing). Section 113.2

of the Building Code requires appeals to the BOR to be made in writing, to be directed to the Secretary of the BOR, to state the basis for the appeal, and to be made within 14 days after the date of grant or refusal of the building permit or decision being appealed from. (See Section 113.2 of the Building Code in Exhibit A, attached).

- d. The Secretary shall make a written analysis of and recommendation to the BOR on each hearing request, which the Secretary shall make available to the Applicant and the BOR at least seven (7) days prior to the hearing.
- e. The Chair, or in the Chair's absence the Vice Chair, may administer oaths and compel the attendance of witnesses at hearings.
- f. The following hearing procedures are not binding and shall be considered guidelines for the conduct of a fair hearing. Ordinarily, at the hearing, the Chair will open the hearing and call for a presentation by the Secretary, based on the Secretary's written analysis and recommendation and any additional relevant material received prior to the hearing. The Applicant next will be provided with an opportunity to respond and to present the Applicant's case. Following the Applicant, any interested members of the public shall be given an opportunity to speak. Thereafter, the BOR shall allow the Secretary and the Applicant an opportunity to respond. The BOR may ask questions of these witnesses at any time during their presentations. The BOR shall retain any evidence presented by the Applicant or any other person at the hearing as part of its official record of the hearing. Once all parties in interest have had an opportunity to testify, the Chair shall close the public hearing. At this time the BOR shall discuss the evidence and make a motion for a decision, which motion, if seconded, the BOR can further discuss. Any motion should reference the applicable criteria for making the subject decision and the evidence which addresses those criteria.
- g. The Secretary shall provide a written, dated, and signed notice of the BOR's decision to the Applicant no later than 30 days after the hearing date. The BOR's decision shall be final on the date shown on the face of the written notice.

VI. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

- a. No member shall participate in or vote with respect to any quasi-judicial matter pending before the BOR, if that member has a financial, personal, or official interest in, or conflict with, the matter, of such nature that it prevents or may prevent that member from acting on the matter in an impartial manner. Any member having such an interest or conflict shall reveal such fact, to the extent possible, prior to any official BOR hearing of or action on the matter, and shall refrain from sitting and participating with the BOR in its consideration of and decision on such matter. Moreover, no such member shall testify before the BOR as a member of the public on any such matter, in order to avoid any appearance of undue influence on the other BOR members.

- b. No member shall participate in, or vote or attempt to influence the other members with respect to, any quasi-legislative matter scheduled for a decision or official recommendation before the BOR, if such action directly and substantially affects, to the member's economic benefit, a business or other undertaking in which the member either has a substantial financial interest or is engaged as counsel, consultant, representative, or agent, unless the member, prior to acting in any manner on the matter, makes a written disclosure to the Secretary of State in accordance with 24-17-110, C.R.S., and states the fact and summary nature of the member's interest for the record at the time of the BOR meeting or hearing on the matter.

VII. REPEAL OF RESOLUTION 98-164

Resolution 98-164 is hereby repealed, effective with the adoption of this Resolution on the date specified below.

A motion to approve the repeal of Resolution 98-164 and to reenact the procedural rules of the BOR in this Resolution 24-077, to be adopted and effective as of the date of the Board of County Commissioners' action set forth herein, was made at the October 29, 2024 business meeting by Commissioner Loachamin, seconded by Commissioner Levy, and passed by a 3-0 vote of the Board.

[Signature Page to Follow]

ADOPTED as a final decision of the Board on this 29th day of October 2024.

The signatures below indicate approval of the text of the Resolution but are not necessarily reflective of the votes taken at the Public Hearing.

**BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS
OF BOULDER COUNTY:**

Ashley Stolzmann, Chair

Marta Loachamin, Vice Chair

Claire Levy, Commissioner

ATTEST:

Clerk to the Board

Exhibit A

The following exhibit includes excerpts from 2015 Amendments to Boulder County Building Code – Effective January 1, 2016

to persons or property caused in whole or in part by defects or other conditions which may be subject to inspection or regulation under this code. Neither Boulder County, the Boulder County Board of County Commissioners, the Boulder County Land Use Department or any division thereof, the *building official*, or any other employee or authorized representative of Boulder County who is charged or connected with the enforcement of this code, shall be liable in damages for any act or omission in the course or context of the discharge of duties under this code or any provisions related to it, and nothing in this code or in its administration or enforcement shall be considered in any way to be a waiver by Boulder County or any of its officials or employees of the protection to which they are entitled under the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, C.R.S. §24-10-101, et seq., as amended. Any claim or suit brought against the *building official* or any other employee or authorized representative of Boulder County which is alleged to have arisen out of or as a result of any act or omission in the enforcement of any provision of this code, and which occurred within the scope of employment of such official, employee or representative, shall be defended by Boulder County until final termination of such proceedings, and any judgment resulting there from shall be assumed by Boulder County.

104.9 Approved materials and equipment.

Materials, equipment and devices *approved* by the *building official* shall be constructed and installed in accordance with such approval.

104.9.1 Used materials and equipment.

The use of used materials that meet the requirements of this code for new materials is permitted. Used equipment and devices shall not be reused unless *approved* by the *building official*.

104.10 Modifications.

Where there are practical difficulties involved in carrying out the provisions of this code, the *building official* shall have the authority to grant modifications for individual cases, upon application of the *owner* or the *owner's* authorized agent, provided that the *building official* shall first find that special individual reason makes the strict letter of this code impractical, the modification is in compliance with the intent and purpose of this code and that such modification does not lessen health, *accessibility*, life and fire safety or structural requirements. The details of action granting modifications shall be recorded and entered in the files of the department of building safety.

104.10.1 Flood hazard areas.

The *building official* shall not grant modifications to any provision required in flood hazard areas as established by IBC Section 1612.3 or IRC Section R322 unless a determination has been made that:

1. A showing of good and sufficient cause that the unique characteristics of the size, configuration or topography of the site render the elevation standards of this code inappropriate.
2. A determination that failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional hardship by rendering the lot undevelopable.
3. A determination that the granting of a variance will not result in increased flood heights, additional threats to public safety, extraordinary public expense, cause fraud on or victimization of the public, or conflict with existing laws or ordinances.
4. A determination that the variance is the minimum necessary to afford relief, considering the flood hazard.
5. Submission to the applicant of written notice specifying the difference between the design flood elevation and the elevation to which the building is to be built, stating that the cost of flood insurance will be commensurate with the increased risk resulting from the reduced floor elevation, and stating that construction below the design flood elevation increases risks to life and property.

See also Section 102.2.1 of this chapter.

104.10.2 Performance code.

The provisions of the ICC Performance Code for Buildings and Facilities may be used by the *building official* as a guide and a tool to evaluate proposals for modifications.

104.11 Alternative materials, design and methods of construction and equipment.

The provisions of this code are not intended to prevent the installation of any material or to prohibit any design or method of construction not specifically prescribed by this code, provided that any such alternative has been approved. An alternative material, design, or method of construction shall be approved where the *building official* finds that the proposed design is satisfactory and complies with the intent of the provisions of this code, and that the material, method or work offered is, for the purpose intended, not less than the equivalent of that prescribed in this code in quality, strength, effectiveness, fire resistance, durability, and safety. Where the alternative material, design, or method of construction is not approved, the *building official* shall respond in writing, stating the reasons why the alternative was not approved.

104.11.1 Research reports.

Supporting data,

where necessary to assist in the approval of materials or assemblies not specifically provided for in this code, shall consist of valid research reports from approved sources.

104.11.2 Tests.

Whenever there is insufficient evidence of compliance with the provisions of this code, or evidence that a material or method does not conform to the requirements of this code, or in

order to substantiate claims for alternative materials or methods, the *building official* shall have the authority to require tests as evidence of compliance to be made at no expense to the jurisdiction.

104.11.3 Performance code.

The provisions of the ICC Performance Code for Buildings and Facilities may be used by the *building official* as a guide and a tool to evaluate proposals for alternative materials, design, and methods of construction and equipment.

SECTION 105: PERMITS

105.1 Required.

Any owner or owner's authorized agent who intends to construct, enlarge, alter, repair, move, demolish or change the occupancy of a building or structure, or to erect, install, enlarge, alter, repair, remove, convert or replace any electrical, gas, mechanical or plumbing system, the installation of which is regulated by this code, or to cause any such work to be performed, shall first make application to the *building official* and obtain the required permit.

105.1.1 Annual permit.

Instead of an individual permit for each alteration to an already approved electrical, gas, mechanical or plumbing installation, the *building official* is authorized to issue an annual permit upon application therefor to any person, firm or corporation regularly employing one or more qualified trade persons in the building, structure or on the premises owned or operated by the applicant for the permit.

105.1.2 Annual permit records.

The person to whom an annual *permit* is issued shall keep a detailed record of *alterations* made under such annual *permit*. The *building official* shall have access to such records at all times or such records shall be filed with the *building official* as designated.

105.2 Work exempt from permit.

Exemptions from *permit* requirements of this code shall not be deemed to grant authorization for any work to be done in any manner in violation of the provisions of this code or any other laws or ordinances of this jurisdiction. *Permits* shall not be required for the following:

Building:

1. One-story detached accessory structures used as a storage shed, playhouse for private use, greenhouse, chicken coop, agricultural loafing shed, or similar uses, provided:
 - a. the floor area of any structure does not exceed 120 square feet (11 m²), except agricultural loafing sheds, which may not exceed 200 square feet.
 - b. the structure height does not exceed 12 feet,
 - c. the structure does not have any utilities, and

- d. the structure does not violate the conditions of any existing land use approval or conservation easement.
- e. The number of allowed detached accessory structures which may be constructed without a building permit shall be determined by the size of the subject parcel:
 - i. One detached accessory structure may be constructed without a building permit on parcels 0.5 acres or less in size.
 - ii. Two detached accessory structures may be constructed without a building permit on parcels greater than 0.5 acre and less than ten acres.
 - iii. Three detached accessory structures may be constructed without a building permit on parcels 10 acres and larger.
- 2. Fences not over 6 feet (2134 mm) high.
- 3. Retaining walls that are not over 4 feet (1219 mm) in height measured from the bottom of the footing to the top of the wall, unless supporting a surcharge or impounding Class I, II or IIIA liquids.
- 4. Water tanks supported directly on grade if the capacity is not greater than 5,000 gallons (18 925 L) and the ratio of height to diameter or width is not greater than 2:1.
- 5. Sidewalks and driveways not more than 30 inches (762 mm) above adjacent grade, and not over any basement or *story* below and are not part of an *accessible route* and not subject to a grading permit.
- 6. Painting, papering, tiling, carpeting, cabinets, counter tops and similar finish work:

Exception:
Cabinets and countertops with plumbing or electrical as part of remodels in one- and two-family *dwelling*s and their accessory structures are required to have a building permit.
- 7. Temporary motion picture, television and theater stage sets and scenery.

SECTION 113: BOARD OF REVIEW

113.1 General.

In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions or determinations made by the *building official* relative to the application and interpretation of this code, there shall be and is hereby created a board of review. The board of review shall be appointed by the applicable governing authority and shall hold office at its pleasure. The board shall adopt rules of procedure for conducting its business.

113.2 Appeals.

Appeals to the Board of Review may be taken by a person aggrieved by his inability to obtain a building permit or by an officer or department, board, or bureau of the County affected by the grant or refusal of the building permit because of non-compliance with the Boulder County Building Code. Any person, officer or department, board or bureau may appeal to the Board of

Review from the decision of any enforcement of the provisions of the Building Code. Such appeals must be made within fourteen (14) days from the date of grant or refusal of the building permit or administrative decision. Such appeals shall be in writing directed to the Secretary of the Board of Review and shall state the basis for appeal.

113.3 Interpretations, alternate materials and methods of construction, and modifications.

The Board of Review, in appropriate cases and subject to appropriate principles, standards, rules, conditions, and safeguards set forth in the building code may make interpretations of the terms of the building code in harmony with their general purpose and intent. The Board of Review may also approve of alternate materials or methods of construction or modifications provided the Board finds that the alternate material or method of construction or modification meets the standards found under Sections 104.10 and 104.11 of this code.

113.4 Limitations on authority.

An application for appeal shall be based on a claim that the true intent of this code or the rules legally adopted thereunder have been incorrectly interpreted, the provisions of this code do not fully apply, or an equally good or better form of construction is proposed. The board shall have no authority relative to interpretation of the administrative provisions of this code and shall not have authority to waive requirements of this code.

113.5 Amendments to the code.

The Board of Review is authorized to formulate suggested amendments to the Building Code for consideration of the Board of County Commissioners.

113.6 Additional authority.

The Board of Review may adopt substantive rules and regulations based upon the provisions of the Building Code adopted by the Board of County Commissioners. In no case, however, shall these rules become effective unless the Board of Review thereon has conducted a public hearing. Notice of the hearing stating its time and place and where the text of the proposed substantive rules and regulations may be inspected shall be given in the same manner as provided in the initial adoption of the code.

113.7 Qualifications.

The board of review shall consist of members who are qualified by experience and training to pass on matters pertaining to building construction and are not employees of the jurisdiction.

SECTION 114: VIOLATIONS

114.1 Unlawful acts.

It shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to erect, construct, alter, extend, *repair*, move, remove, demolish or occupy any building, structure or equipment regulated by this code, or cause same to be done, in conflict with or in violation of any of the provisions of this code.

114.2 Notice of violation.

The *building official* is authorized to serve a notice of violation or order on the person responsible for the erection, construction, *alteration*, extension, *repair*, moving, removal, demolition or occupancy of a building or structure in violation of the provisions of this code, or in violation of a *permit* or certificate issued under the provisions of this code. Such order shall direct the discontinuance of the illegal action or condition and the abatement of the violation.

114.3 Prosecution of violation.

If the notice of violation is not complied with promptly, the *building official* is authorized to request the legal counsel of the jurisdiction to i